PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

        This is the appeal of the circuit court’s denial of 

Melvin Trotter’s motion for post-conviction relief which was

brought pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850.

Citations shall be as follows:  The record on appeal

concerning the original trial court proceedings shall be

referred to as "R ___" followed by the appropriate page

numbers.  “RS___” followed by the appropriate page numbers.

The post-conviction record on appeal will be referred to as

"PC-R ____" followed by the appropriate page numbers and the

Evidentiary Hearing “EH____” followed by the appropriate page

number.  All other references will be self-explanatory or

otherwise explained.

This appeal is being filed in order to address

substantial claims of error under the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth,

Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States

Constitution, claims demonstrating that Mr. Trotter was

deprived of his right to a fair and reliable trial and that

the proceedings resulting in his conviction and death sentence

violated fundamental constitutional imperatives.  Furthermore,

as to the denial of Mr. Trotter’s motion for post-conviction
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relief, there has been an abuse of discretion and a lack of

competent evidence to support certain of the trial judge's

conclusions.  

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Because of the seriousness of the claims at issue and the

stakes involved, Melvin Trotter , a death-sentenced inmate on

Death Row at Union Correctional Institution, urges this Court

to permit oral argument on the issues raised in his appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A Manatee County grand jury returned an indictment on

June 20, 1986 charging Mr. Trotter with first degree murder in

case number 86-1225 F and robbery with a deadly weapon in case

number 86-1240 F [R1-2] .  The case proceeded to a jury trial

in the Twelfth Judicial Circuit, Manatee County Circuit Court,

before Acting Circuit Judge Alan R. Dakan.  The jury found him

guilty of robbery with a deadly weapon and first degree

murder, and recommended death by vote of 9 to 9.  On May 18,

1987, Mr. Trotter  was sentenced to death for the first degree

murder conviction while a concurrent term of twelve years for

the robbery conviction was subsequently imposed. 
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This court summarized the facts in its direct appeal

opinion by noting that “[O]n June 16, 1986, a truck driver

went into Langford’s grocery in Palmetto, Florida, and found

the seventy-year-old owner, Virgie Langford, bleeding on the

floor in the aback of the store.  She had suffered a large

abdominal would which resulted in disembowelment; there were a

total of seven stab wounds.  She told the driver that she had

been stabbed and robbed.  Several hours after the surgery for

her wounds, the victim went into cardiac arrest and died.”

Trotter v. State, 576 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 1990). 

On appeal, Mr. Trotter’s conviction was affirmed but the

sentence was vacated and a new penalty proceeding before a new

jury was ordered because evidence of Mr. Trotter’s status on

community control at the time of the homicide was admitted in

error, and considered as an aggravating circumstance. Id. at

694.  On remand to the circuit court, the parties agreed that

the State Attorney for the Twelfth Judicial Circuit should be

disqualified ( R. - 25). An amended order providing for the

disqualification and requesting appointment of special

prosecutor was entered on January 24, 1992 (R. 98-99) 

Governor Chiles issued Executive Order No. 92-30 assigning the

State

Attorney
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for the

Sixth 

Judicial Circuit to handle the prosecution ( R. 100-02).   On

April 21, 1993, the jury returned its advisory sentence at the

re-sentencing trial and recommended death by a vote of 11 to 1

and on July 23, 1993 the court followed the Jury’s Advisory

recommendation and entered a written order that Mr. Trotter be

sentenced to death [R. 547].  The Florida Supreme Court

affirmed the sentence.  Trotter v. State, 690 So.2d 1235  Fla.

1997).  His Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the United

States Supreme Court was denied on October 6, 1997.  Trotter

v. Florida, ___ S. Ct. ___ (1997).

Mr. Trotter filed his initial post-conviction motion on

June 8, 1998 to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence

With Special Request for Leave to Amend.   Subsequently, a

First Amended Motion was filed on June 15, 2000 and a Second

amended motion was filed on July 31, 2001 under the authority

of Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850 and Florida Statutes, Section 924.066

seeking collateral relief from his judgments of conviction for

first degree murder and armed robbery.  A Huff Hearing was

held in the case on November 15, 2001.  The court via Order

Setting Evidentiary Hearing dated January 24, 2002, stated

that the Evidentiary Hearing would pertain to Claims I-IV and
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all subparts contained in Defendant’s Second Amended Motion To

Vacate and that legal arguments would be heard on Claims V-

VIII and any subparts of those claims.  The Evidentiary

hearing was held on April 29, 2002  through May 3, 2002. At

the conclusion of the hearing, CCRC- M stated its intent to

rely on the record and case law cited in the Second Amended

Motion as to all issues raised in Claims Four, Five Six, and

Seven. (PC-R 813).  The court denied CCRC-M’s request to

revisit the issue of whether Mr. Trotter has frontal lobe

damage, in light of improved technology. (PC-R 816-818).  By

order dated March 20, 2003, the court denied relief to Mr.

Trotter as to all claims contained in Defendant’s Second

Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence

and an appeal to this Honorable Court was subsequently and

duly noticed.

 SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

    Mr. Trotter has established that he is mentally retarded

in

accordance with the Supreme court’s clinical definitions and

limitations in adaptive skills in Atkins v. Virginia, 122,

S.Ct. 

2242, and therefore his execution is prohibited by the 8th
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Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.

     The Supreme Court left the determination of mental

retardation, however,  to the States.  The State of Florida in

adopting F.S. 931.137(4) requires sub-average general

intellectual functioning, existing concurrently with deficits

in adaptive behavior and manifestation prior to age 18.

     Sub-average intellectual functioning is measured on a

standardized intelligence test specified by the rules of the

Department of Children and Family Services (Chapter 393).  The

individual must score two or more standard deviations from the

mean score.  

Mr. Trotter was tested on a Wechsler Intelligence Scale

Children’s Revised  at age 14 and scored 70 demonstrating sub-

average intellectual functioning.  The only expert who

examined Mr. Trotter during this relevant period (prior to age

18), was Dr. Pinkard who testified that he had existing

concurrent deficits in his adaptive behavior that manifested

prior to age 18 

and that Mr. Trotter is retarded.  Therefore, Mr. Trotter has

established his mental retardation in accordance with Florida

Statutes and his execution is prohibited by the 8th Amendment

of the U.S. Constitution.

Florida’s Statutes, F.S. 921.137 is unconstitutional
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under the 8th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution due to the

fact that it contains no provision for retrospective

application 

for mentally retarded individuals.

Mental health expert did not provide competent and

effective assistance to Mr. Trotter has required by Ake v.

Oklahoma.  Although Mr. Trotter scored a 72 on a Wechsler

Intelligence Test Adult, expert psychologist testimony

indicated that his performance was deficient in not proceeding

to test Mr. Trotter’s adaptive functioning in light of the low

score, and formally assess his mental retardation.  In

assessing adaptive behavior, the clinician conducts interviews

with individuals and reviews records that can provide

information relative to early development.  

Two quick interviews with relatives were conducted on the

evening before the re-sentencing, and Dr. Krop never attempted

to determine deficits in Mr. Trotter’s adaptive skills. 

Relatives 

testifying at the evidentiary hearing testified to defective

social skills, daily living, and lack of personal independence

evidence of deficient adaptive skills.  Dr. Krop did not speak

to Mr.Trotter’s wife, and counsel for the Defendant testified

that this was not based upon any strategic decision.
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Dr. Krop errors in assessing Mr. Trotter’s reports of

black outs and memory loss prohibited counsel from explaining

the convoluted version of facts leading up to and including

the crime offered by Mr. Trotter.  Additionally, Dr. Krop’s

failure to define sub diagnoses prohibited a specific

diagnosis of organic mental disorder from being rendered.  For

minimally competent psychological assistance to be rendered

Mr. Trotter, the psychologist should have administered an

MMPI, a TAT, or a Rorschach but did not.  Counsel for the

Defendant testified 

that he never directed Dr. Krop to refrain from administering

an MMPI or any other test to Mr. Trotter. Dr. Krop failed to

present age (i.e) mental age as mitigation although

Mr.Trotter’s mental age was between 12-13 years of age.

Additional mitigation was readily available and not

presented in behalf of Mr. Trotter: Ability to be

rehabilitated, emotional disturbance, background, crime not

one in series, good prison record, iatrogenises persistent,

medical problems, mental impairment, previous charitable or

humanitarian deeds, no role model, cooperation with law

enforcement, major depression, post traumatic stress disorder,

cocain intoxication, substance abuse disorder and dependent

personality disorder.  Psychologist, Dr. Mosman and
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defendant’s trial counsel Mr. Slater both testified at the

evidentiary that Dr. Krop’s performance was deficient.

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to investigate

Mr. Trotter’s background to develop additional mitigating

evidence in his behalf. Dr. Krop testified that he made no

independent effort to contact witnesses and relied upon

counsel.  Melvin’s marriage to a prostitute and loving

relationship in caring for her two young daughters is powerful

mitigation that was never presented in his behalf due to the

limited investigation conducted.

In addition, the relationship corroborates Mr. Trotter’s

subservient role and further evidences his deficient adaptive

functioning skills.  

Counsel for Defendant (Judge Dubensky)was aware of the

impact that the prior violent felony would have as aggravation

in Mr. Trotter’s case in November 1986 but Dr. Krop did not

actually communicate that Mr. Trotter was incompetent to

understand the plea until the evening prior to the hearing

held in November, 1992.  Therefore, this information was newly

discovered evidence and the belated 3.850 motion to allow Mr.

Trotter to withdraw his plea should have been granted.

 GROUNDS FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF

In his motion for Fla.R.Crim. P. 3.850 relief, Mr. Trotter
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asserts that his conviction and sentence of death are the result

of violations of the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the United States Constitution and the

corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution for each of

the reasons set forth below.

ARGUMENT

I. Petitioner Has Made a Prima Facie Showing of Mental
Retardation and Must Be Given a Full Adversarial Jury
Trial to Resolve the outstanding Factual Issue as to
Whether He Is Eligible for the Death Penalty.

Standard of Review

The lower court’s order is subject to de novo review in this

Court.  This Court reviews de novo questions of law and mixed

questions of fact and law decided by trial courts hearing

motions brought pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure

3.850.  Stephens v. State, 748 So.2d 1028 (Fla. 1999).  Mr.

Trotter’s claims that (1) the execution of a person with mental

retardation violates the Eighth Amendment and article 1, section

17 of the Florida Constitution, and (2) that a person raising

such a claim must be afforded all the procedural safeguards

required in a capital sentencing trial, are questions of law.

Whether Mr. Trotter’s execution is prohibited because he has

mental retardation depends upon what the legal definition of



11

mental retardation is in this context.  Determining what the

correct rule of law is, and determine whether the lower court

applied it, is the exclusive province of this Court.  See Rogers

v. State, 783 So.2d 980, 995  (Fla. 2001) (“whether a particular

circumstance is truly mitigating in nature is a question of law

and subject to de novo review by this Court”).  “When the

standard governing the decision of a particular case is provided

by the Constitution, this Court’s role in marking out the limits

of the standard through the process of case-by-case adjudication

is of special importance.”  Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union, 466

U.S. 485, 503 (1984).  

This Court’s cases hold that only if the trial court applied

the correct rule of law are its factual determinations subject

to competent, substantial evidence review.  Bowles v. State, 26

Fla. L. Weekly S659, 2001 WL 11941 (Fla. 2001) (“this court

reviews the record to determine whether the trial court applied

the correct rule of law . . . and, if so, whether such finding

is supported by competent, substantial evidence”); Willacy v.

State, 696 So.2d 693, 695 (Fla. 1997) (same). See also  Pullman-

Standard v. Swint, 456 U.S. 273, 287 (1982) (“if a [trial]

court’s findings rest on an erroneous view of the law, they may

be set aside on that basis”).  “[W]here findings are infirm

because of an erroneous view of the law, a remand is the proper
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course unless the record permits only one resolution of the

factual issue. All this is elementary.”  Pullman-Standard, 456

U.S. at 291-92 (internal quotations and citations omitted).  See

also Florida Power & Light Co. v. City of Dania, 761 So.2d 1089,

1093 (Fla. 2000).  Because the lower court in this case

expressly refused to apply or be guided by any legally

recognized standards, the only course is for this Court to say

what the correct standards are and remand for further

proceedings wherein they may be applied.  

Similarly, this Court does not decide whether competent

substantial evidence supports findings made following a hearing

at which a petitioner’s due process rights were violated. Cherry

Communications Inc., v. Deacon, 652 So.2d 803 (Fla. 1995) (not

reaching question whether competent substantial evidence

supported commission’s conclusion because hearing violated due

process).  In this case, the lower court violated Mr. Trotter’s

due process rights by refusing to afford him the procedural

safeguards that are required for a determination whether someone

is constitutionally or statutorily ineligible for the death

penalty.  Such a process is “not adequate for reaching

reasonably correct results,” so the results are due no

deference.   Townsend v. Sain, 372 U.S. 293, 316 (1963).



13

A.  Mental Retardation as Determined by the  Supreme Court of
the United States

In Atkins v. Virginia, 122 S.Ct. 2242, decided on June 20,

2002, the Supreme Court held that the Eighth Amendment prohibits

the execution of mentally retarded offenders.  

In Atkins a determination that the defendant was ‘mildly

mentally retarded’ was based upon interviews conducted with

people who knew Atkins,  a review of school and court records,

and the administration of a standard intelligence test which

indicated that Atkins had a full scale IQ of 59. [FN3,4,5]

The Supreme court stated further that clinical definitions

of mental retardation require not only subaverage intellectual

functioning, but also significant limitations in adaptive skills

such as communication, self-care and self-direction that become

manifest before age 18. [FN23]  In doing so, the court adopted

the definitions of the American Association of Mental

Retardation (AAMR) and a similar definition by the American

Psychiatric Association.  Not only do both entities state that

the onset must manifest before age 18 but most importantly

explain when the adaptive skills are to be measured.   The AAMR

states that related limitations in two or more adaptive skill

areas occurs “concurrently” with the significant subaverage

intellectual functioning. While the APA describes significant
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subaverage general intellectual functioning “accompanied by”

significant limitations in adaptive functioning in at least two

of the listed skills areas.[FN3] Since the condition must

manifest Before the individual reaches age 18,  there can be no

question that the adaptive functioning skills must also be

measured during that relevant period - Pre Age 18.

Intellectual Functioning & Adaptive Functioning

In Atkins, the court cited with approval an IQ range of 70

to 75 for the intellectual functioning prong in defining mental

retardation excluding margin of error. [FN 5] The Supreme court

stated that clinical definitions of mental retardation require

not only subaverage intellectual functioning, but also require

significant limitations in adaptive skills such as

communication, self-care and self-direction that become manifest

before age 18. [FN23] 

B. Determining Mental Retardation in Florida

Florida Statutes, Section 921.137(4) of the Florida Statute
states, in pertinent part:

As used in this section, the term "mental retardation"
means significantly subaverage general intellectual
functioning existing concurrently with deficits in
adaptive behavior and manifested during the period from
conception to age 18. The term "significantly subaverage
general intellectual functioning," for the purpose of this
section, means performance that is two or more standard
deviations from the mean score on a standardized
intelligence test specified in the rules of the Department
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of Children and Family Services. The term "adaptive
behavior," for the purpose of this definition, means the
effectiveness or degree with which an individual meets the
standards of personal independence and social
responsibility expected of his or her 
age, cultural group, and community.”

The Florida Statute adopts the essentially the same 

definition for determining mental retardation as used by the

U.S. Supreme Court.

Specified Instruments are required for measuring intellectual
functioning for diagnosing Mental Retardation in Florida.

Chapter 393 dealing with Developmental Disabilities in

Florida allows for those diagnosed as mentally retarded under

the statutory definition to be qualified to receive certain

services.  In addition, Chapter 393 specifically designates what

types of instruments might be used to measure mental

retardation.  The definition that is contained in Chapter 393

for mental retardation is the same used by the American

Association of Mental Retardation (AAMR) and the American

Psychiatric Association (APA).  Accepted protocol to evaluate

for mental retardation in accordance with Chapter 393 specifies

instruments that have been established for reliability and

validity in the field to measure intellectual functioning.

Those coinciding with the Frye or Del Baros criteria are: the

Stanford-Binet, the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, 3d.
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version, Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children Revised (ages

6-16), the Wechsler Pre-school and Primary School of

Intelligence (ages 4-6). The DSM-IV, TR is a diagnostic and

statistical manual that is used by psychiatrists and

psychologists to diagnose mental retardation. 

The guide book for developmental disability application 

eligibility details the standard intelligence tests within

Children and Family Services Regulation 162-D recognizing the

following tests:  

 “1.Stanford-Binet Form LM;  2, Wechsler Adult Intelligence

Scale; 3, Wechsler Intelligence Scale Children Revised; 4,

Wechsler Preschool and Primary Intelligence Level; 5, Bailey

Scales of Infant Development; 6, Gerontology Scales; 7, Colombia

Mental Maturity Scale; 8, McCarthy Scale of Children’s Ability;

9, Leiter International Performance Scale and 10, Hiskey -

Nebraska Test of Learning Aptitude for the deaf”. See State of

Florida, Children and Families Regulation, 162 D. 

C.  Evaluation of Melvin Trotter for mental retardation based
upon 

the established definition by the Supreme Court and Florida:
Sub-average general intellectual functioning existing
concurrently with deficits in adaptive behavior and manifested
during the period from conception to age 18. 

Mr. Trotter’s Intellectual Functioning (IQ Testing)

Classifications in both Diagnostic and Statistical Manuals,
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as well as the American Association of Mental Deficiency or

Mental Retardation qualify a person as being mentally retarded

if the individual’s IQ score is below 70 in combination with

deficits in adaptive behavior skills.  Psychological experts

agree that associated with this testing there is a margin of

error plus or minus 5 points. (EH.278,279)  Therefore, an

individual scoring 70

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