IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MELVIN TROTTER,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC03-735

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.___/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWELFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MANATEE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101 Concourse Center #4 3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607 Phone: (813) 287-7910 Fax: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

⁸ Slater testified that at the resentencing proceeding he was assisted by co-counsel Mr. Blount (R XV, 255). Slater also had the services of an investigator assisting him (R XV, 265).

⁹ The resentencing appeal record (Florida Supreme Court Case No. 82,142) reflects that at resentencing trial defense counsel called three mental health experts -- Dr. Krop, Dr. Wood, and Dr. Maher -- as well as an HRS inspector for foster care Priscilla Ridall and Detective La Gasse as witnesses.

a loving relationship at the Ellington home was presented whereas subsequently evidence suggested the Ellington household was abusive or there were some problems there (R XV, 283). Slater testified that in a previous case (Danny Wortham) he had used a similar strategy successfully as that used in the Trotter resentencing, i.e., abusive background in the same foster home Trotter had been in, along with the use of Dr. Wood and a PET That approach had yielded a jury life recommendation scan. after Wortham's plea of quilty; and since his goal in Trotter's case was to avoid the death penalty, the successful Wortham strategy "had an influence" in this case (R XV, 277). Slater further testified that he was trying to do everything he could to help Trotter avoid the death penalty and that if he had evidence that would help him he would pursue it and put it in front of the jury unless there was a strategic reason not to do so. Slater conceded that he was pretty intense when it comes to preparation (R XV, 288). He kept his investigator, Mr. Speed, working pretty hard, 10 he recalled electing to have appellant's mother and sister talk to Dr. Krop and put on their testimony through Dr. Krop rather than calling them to the stand (R XV,

¹⁰ State Exhibit 5 was a directive to his investigator, Woody Speed, to locate Dr. Pinkard and find out if the state was going to call him. Slater was concerned that based upon the content of Dr. Pinkard's report he might have been a damaging witness against Trotter. He learned the state had not subpoenaed Pinkard (R XV, 291-292).

289).¹¹ State exhibit 7 from Slater's file was a memo he authored indicating that appellant's sister Cathy Trotter's married name was Cathy Williams (R XV, 294). When recalled to the stand Slater testified that he had contact with appellant's family members in Manatee County from 1986-1987 (R XVI, 511).

The defense did not fail to investigate appellant's background (indeed the defense file memoranda in State Exhibit 10 reveal many interviews and background information retrieved either by counsel or investigator Woody Speed). Rather, trial defense counsel made a conscious decision to present background information through experts instead of calling family members to the stand, a technique which limited the prosecutor's ability to cross-examine witnesses. This Court has repeatedly acknowledged that it will not second-quess counsel's reasonable strategic decisions in such matters. See, e.q., Gordon v. State, 863 So.2d 1215 (Fla. 2003)(decision not to put on alibi defense, failing to challenge DNA evidence and request Frye hearing or to move to sever trial from that of co-defendant constituted sound strategy decisions); Johnson v. State, 769 So. 2d 990, 1001 2000) ("Counsel's strategic decisions will not be (Fla. second-guessed on collateral attack." citing <u>Remeta v. Dugger</u>,

¹¹ In a pre-evidentiary hearing deposition Slater admitted that he did not put on appellant's mother and sister and some others as in the first proceeding; it was a conscious strategy to put in hearsay testimony through Dr. Krop which would have been inadmissible had it not been a penalty phase (R VI, 1011).

622 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1993)); <u>Zakrzewski v. State</u>, ____ So. 2d ____, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S 826 (Fla., Nov. 13, 2003).

Appellant complains that as a result of counsel's limited investigation "Mr. Trotter was required to testify and his low mental capacity prevented him from creating a favorable impression before the jury" (Brief, p. 43). Some clarification In Trotter's <u>original</u> sentencing proceeding is in order. (Florida Supreme Court Case No. 70,714) appellant testified on his own behalf and related inter alia that he was loved and treated well when he stayed at the Ellingtons (1DAR XI, 1912-The defense also called as witnesses Mr. and Mrs. 1934). Ellington (1DAR XI, 1949-1970), Rosa Hadley, Sam McDowell, a jail chaplain (1DAR XI, 1971-1990) and two mental health experts, Dr. David Smith and Dr. Harry Krop (1DAR XI, 2005 -1DAR XII, 2135). That sentencing proceeding was essentially rendered a nullity by this Court's direct appeal ruling mandating a new sentencing proceeding. Trotter v. State, 576 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 1990). At the resentencing proceeding, as explained by counsel and Dr. Krop at the evidentiary hearing below, the emphasis shifted with the growing disaffection by juries of drug-use-as-mitigation to the hopefully more successful mitigation defense of abuse at the Ellington foster home which attorney Slater and Dr. Krop had utilized in the Danny Wortham case to obtain a life recommendation by the jury.

Rather than have Trotter testify at the resentencing, attorney Slater cleverly and strategically chose to have Dr. Krop testify about appellant's background with hearsay disclosures, otherwise not available except for this penalty phase.

The defense strategy at resentencing of using experts rather than family members to testify coincided with the defense attempt to obtain jury sympathy by portraying appellant as worthy of charitable treatment by them, i.e., that he was a person abandoned by his family throughout his difficult life. Consider trial counsel's closing argument at the resentencing:¹²

> What does Melvin know about life? He knows he has no father. He knows he has an alcoholic mother. He knows that every person he's ever been close to has been violent.

> > (2DAR XVII, 2094).

* * *

This man has had nobody in the courtroom throughout this trial. Have you ever seen any other black person in this courtroom throughout the trial? I submit to you he has been alone in this trial, <u>he has been</u> alone in his life, he has been alone from birth and he will continue to be alone for <u>life</u>. (2DAR XVII, 2100)(emphasis supplied)

Defense counsel even quoted from the pre-sentence investigation which the defense brought out:

¹² Florida Supreme Court Case No. 82,142, 2DAR XVII, 2080-2102.

It should be noted that . . . he has lacked . . . even familial support and success. Lack of family support has been dramatically noticed since his arrest. It should be noted that the subject has received almost no visitation in the previous year that he has been incarcerated pending the disposition of these charges.

(2DAR XVII, 2101)

Defense counsel Slater reiterated in his conclusion:

You know, if a mother cares and a family cares, it doesn't matter what you've done, you're still going to be there to support your child, you're still going to be there to support your loved one, no matter what they are. No matter if they're a cocaine addict, no matter if they're a robber. You are going to be behind them because you love them, you care for them. That's humanity. That's what these people have shown for Virgie. He hasn't had that. Not from the beginning.

"All family members interviewed by this officer have indicated they have made no attempt to visit him, correspond with him, or make any contact or give any support during this time."

Is that love?

"He is essentially a man alone." A man alone from birth he has been. "Mrs. Chandler's description of him having raised himself is a valid description of the way the subject has lived his entire life, through childhood into adulthood. He has found it very difficult to identify any areas of adequacy or support or success."

He has stood alone through life, he's stood alone through this trial, and he'll stand alone wherever he goes. Because he has nothing. He's never had anything. And he never will. 2101-02)

To the extent that appellant is now urging that defense counsel should have presented the inconsequential testimony of nieces Casimir and Polite, the short answer is that counsel selected an alternate course of presenting Trotter's life through skillful use of experts and hearsay and the use of Casimir and Polite would run the risk of negating the poignant "He is essentially a man alone" theme and there is no basis to conclude that the current second-guessing is constitutionally mandated over the chosen strategy. As noted in <u>Glock v. Moore</u>, 195 F.3d 625 (11th Cir. 1999) the argument that Glock had a loving and supportive family who could help rehabilitate him is fundamentally inconsistent with the idea that his stepmother was so abusive that he developed a mental disorder at her hands. Id. at 638. Since counsel pursued a bifurcated strategy of presenting both offense-specific and defendant-specific mitigating evidence and since introduction of further abuse evidence would have meant the exclusion of the supportive family evidence, counsel's approach would continue to be a reasonable strategy and "Petitioner likely would have fared worse at trial if he had been able to pursue the strategy for which he now argues." Id. at 640. Similarly, in the instant case, the tactic adopted by the experienced capital litigator Mr. Slater was a reasonable one and need not be condemned simply because it

failed to achieve the desired result, or that collateral counsel seeks merely to engage in Monday-morning-quarterbacking.

This Court should affirm the trial court's order denying relief on this point.

ISSUE V

WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO FILE A TIMELY MOTION TO SET ASIDE AND VACATE TROTTER'S 1985 ROBBERY CONVICTION, SUBSEQUENTLY USED TO ESTABLISH AGGRAVATING FACTORS IN IMPOSING THE DEATH SENTENCE.

Appellant in his brief contends that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in failing to file timely motions to set aside and vacate Trotter's 1985 robbery conviction, subsequently used to establish two of the four aggravating circumstances. Trotter notes that original trial counsel failed to file any motion challenging the plea prior to Trotter's first trial, but prior to the resentencing proceeding counsel did file a motion to vacate the judgment and sentence for the robbery and burglary conviction in case number 85-463F and a hearing on that motion was held before Judge Dakan on November 13, 1992. The court at that hearing heard the testimony of Dr. Harry Krop and former attorney Henry Lee. The trial court, following that hearing, denied relief because of untimeliness and also insufficiency.¹³ Trotter now argues that the plea was legally insufficient, that Trotter was not competent to enter that plea (to the non-capital case) and that counsel's failure to act timely violated the Sixth Amendment. For the reasons that follow, the claim is both procedurally barred and meritless. Relief must be denied.

¹³ Trotter's resentencing appeal included a challenge to the court's ruling on Judge Dakan's disposition of the non-capital postconviction attack which this Court rejected.

The lower court rejected appellant's claim that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to timely file a motion to set aside and vacate his 1985 robbery which was used to establish two of the four aggravating circumstances -in claim I(A) below (R VIII, 1365-1367). The court noted that while counsel did not file a motion to set aside that conviction until November, 1992, appellant could not satisfy the prejudice component of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) since the trial court had denied the motion to set aside robbery conviction both on the grounds of untimeliness and as being legally insufficient (R VIII, 1366). See also State Exhibit 6 wherein it is recited that "the evidence presented at the hearing is not legally sufficient to support either motion." The court noted that appellant's reliance on Koenig v. State, 597 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 1992) was inapposite since the Florida Supreme Court has ruled that <u>Koeniq</u> did not apply when a defendant sought to withdraw a plea at a resentencing proceeding. See Elledge v. State, 706 So. 2d 1340 (Fla. 1997). Moreover, prejudice was not established since other valid aggravating circumstances exist in this case. See Stano v. <u>State</u>, 708 So. 2d 271 (Fla. 1998) (R VIII, 1367). Trotter entered his plea of guilty to robbery in 1985, some eight years before Koenig was decided, and the current proceedings involve a collateral challenge to his convictions, not a direct appeal

(as <u>Koenig</u> involved). Counsel obviously is not constitutionally required to anticipate changes in the law. <u>See Stevens v.</u> <u>State</u>, 552 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1989).

(1) The instant claim is procedurally barred as it is an issue that was previously considered and rejected on direct appeal, or a variant thereof, and the postconviction vehicle is not to be used to litigate anew previously-considered claims. His claims are barred by the law of the case doctrine and are res judicata. On Trotter's last (resentencing) appeal he raised as Issue IV his contention that the lower court erroneously denied his challenge to the prior 1985 robbery which was used as an aggravating circumstance, Trotter v. State, 690 So. 2d 1234, 1236 n.8 (Fla. 1996), and this Court rejected it without discussion as "without merit." Id. at 1237. The current claim is an impermissible attempt to relitigate the appellate issue by reformulating it as an issue of ineffective assistance of counsel. See Schwab v. State, 814 So. 2d 402, 406, n.4 (Fla. 2002); Sireci v. State, 773 So. 2d 34, 40 n.10 and 11 (Fla. 2000); Asay v. State, 769 So. 2d 974, 989 (Fla. 2000)("These claims were raised and rejected on direct appeal, [citation omitted] and are thus procedurally barred in this proceeding. [citation omitted]. stated in Medina, `it is As we inappropriate to use a different argument to relitigate the same issue.' Accordingly, 'even if couched in ineffective assistance

language,' [citation omitted], these claims that were raised on direct appeal are procedurally barred.").

Additionally, in Parker v. State, ___ So. 2d ___, 29 Fla. L. Weekly S27 (Fla., Jan. 22, 2004), this Court explained citing Florida Dept. of Transportation v. Juliano, 801 So. 2d 101, 107 (Fla. 2001) that "the law of the case doctrine . . . bars consideration only of those legal issues that were actually considered and decided in a former appeal, [citation omitted] while res judicata bars relitigation in a subsequent cause of action not only of claims raised, but also claims that could have been raised." In Parker, the Court concluded that the law of the case doctrine was inapplicable since the admissibility of the challenged statement was never actually considered and decided by the Court in Parker's first appeal. Res judicata also was deemed inapplicable because the new penalty phase could not be deemed a new and different case; the guilt and penalty phases of a capital trial "are parts of the same case and the death sentence imposed after Parker's new penalty phase is not final until affirmed by this Court on direct appeal." 29 Fla. L. Weekly at S28.

Judge Stephen Dakan determined following an evidentiary hearing in November of 1992 that Trotter's Motions to Withdraw Plea and to Vacate, Set Aside or Correct Sentence were <u>both</u> procedurally barred by the two-year limitation of Rule 3.850,

Fla. R. Crim. P., and that "the evidence presented at the hearing is not legally sufficient to support either motion" (State Exhibit 6). Trotter raised as Issue IV in his last resentencing direct appeal that "the trial court erred by ruling Rule 3.850's two-year limitation barred him that from considering the constitutional validity of appellant's prior conviction for robbery" (Initial Brief, pp. 52-56, FSC Case No. 82, 142). He argued therein that the 1985 plea colloquy was inadequate under Koenig v. State, 597 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 1992) and Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969) (Brief, p. 54). This Court summarily disposed of this claim with the curt declaration: "We find the remainder of Trotter's present claims to be without merit." 690 So. 2d at 1237.

Under this Court's <u>Juliano</u> and <u>Parker</u> jurisprudence, this Court's rejection of appellant's challenge to Judge Dakan's denial of relief on Trotter's claim that his 1985 convictions were infirm and should be set aside and could not be used as aggravating factors on direct appeal became and is now res judicata. Trotter's argument that the plea was invalid and must be set aside either was presented or could have been presented on direct appeal and substantively should not be subject to reconsideration. As stated in Juliano, *supra*, at 105:

> Importantly, the doctrine of res judicata not only bars issues that were raised, but it also precludes consideration of issues that could have been raised but were not

raised in the first case.

Trotter is also collaterally estopped from relitigating the same issue between the same parties. <u>Topps v. State</u>, ____ So. 2d ____, 29 Fla. L. Weekly S21, (Fla., Jan. 22, 2004).

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